D+7 W/app.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE ///S OCT 13 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
Ву
Chief Deputy Clerk

ANNETTE HUNTER,) Petitioner,)	
vs.	CASE NO. 82,458
STATE OF FLORIDA,	FOURTH DCA CASE NO. 92-2972
Respondent.)))

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

Paul E. Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438

Attorney for Annette Hunter

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Defendant in the Circuit Court, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County and the Appellee before the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. The Respondent was the Plaintiff in circuit court and Appellant in the district court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Annette Hunter and the State.

The following symbols will be used:

- "R" Record on appeal before the Fourth District Court of Appeal.
- "SR" Supplemental Record on Appeal before the Fourth District
 Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 21, 1991, Sergeant T.C. Middleton and Deputy John Battle posed as street level crack cocaine dealers within a school zone in Fort Lauderdale (R 20,37). The officers used crack cocaine illegally manufactured by the Broward County Sheriff's Office (R 20,37). Ms. Hunter walked up to Sergeant Middleton and said, "Can I have a dime rock?" (R 20,37). Sergeant Middleton displayed several packages of the manufactured cocaine (R 20,37). Ms. Hunter stated, "They are too small, give me two for ten" (R 20,37). Sergeant Middleton stated, "Ok," and gave her two packages of manufactured cocaine (R 20,37). Ms. Hunter stated, "Let me taste one" (R 20,37). Sergeant Middleton said, "Ok" (R 20,37). Hunter was allowed to open the package and taste the illegally manufactured cocaine (R 20,37). Ms. Hunter stated, It's good," and gave Sergeant Middleton ten dollars for the two packages (R 21,37-38). Ms. Hunter was then arrested and charged with purchase of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school (R 21).

On September 16, 1991, Ms. Hunter pled guilty to purchase of cocaine within a 1000 feet of a school in case number 91-5614 CF (R 38; SR). Ms. Hunter was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 4 1/2 years in state prison with a 3 year minimum mandatory (R 38).

On May 18, 1992, Ms. Hunter filed a motion with the trial court seeking relief on the authority of Kelly v. State, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992), and Grissett v. State, 594 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), dismissed, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992) (SR 1-9).

On June 4, 1992, in open court, the trial court entered an order vacating the judgment and sentence and discharging Ms. Hunter (SR 10). The state did not appeal this order. Instead, on July 2, 1992, the state filed another information charging Ms. Hunter with solicitation to purchase cocaine in case number 92-13170 CF (R 6-7).

On September 22, 1992, Ms. Hunter filed a motion to dismiss the information (R 11-13). On September 24, 1992, the trial court entered its written order granting the motion to dismiss (R 37-39). In its order, the trial court made the finding that the "manufactured cocaine utilized in this case was an integral part of this transaction" (R 38).

On October 9, 1992, the State filed its notice of appeal (R 40). Ms. Hunter argued on appeal that the State's appeal was untimely and should be dismissed and that the trial court correctly dismissed the purchase of cocaine charge after it found that the illegally manufactured cocaine was an integral part of the transaction.

On July 7, 1993, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order on the authority of Metcalf v. State, 614 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev. pending, Case No. 81,612. On September 22, 1993, the Fourth District denied Ms. Hunter's motion for rehearing but granted her motion to certify a question of great public importance (see attached appendix). Ms. Hunter filed her notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on September 23, 1993. On October 5,

1993, this Court entered an order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and scheduling briefs on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

This Court's decision in State v. Williams, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S371 (Fla. July 1, 1993), controls and requires this Court to reverse the Fourth District's decision with instructions to affirm the trial court's order dimissing Ms. Hunter's solicitation to purchase cocaine charge. In Williams, this Court held it violated due process to use police manufactured crack cocaine in a reverse sting operation. That is what occurred in this case. This Court so held in Williams because the statute does not allow police to manufacture controlled substances, and the illegal manufacture of a highly addictive and potentially fatal drug which is then permitted to escape into the community in the course of reverse sting operations is outrageous misconduct. This Court wanted to deter such misconduct and was concerned that permitting the conviction of purchasing such cocaine to stand would condone the misconduct.

POINT II

Ms. Hunter pled guilty to purchase of cocaine within a 1000 feet of school and was sentenced to state prison. Thereafter, the Fourth District issued its decisions in Kelly v. State, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992), and Grissett v. State, 594 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), dismissed, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992). Ms. Hunter filed a motion with the trial court seeking relief under those decisions. On June 4, 1992, the trial court entered a written order granting Ms.

Hunter's motion. The State did not timely commence appeal from that order. Instead, the State filed another information 28 days later and then appealed its dismissal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. To allow the State to appeal the second order gives the State more time to file an appeal than is allowed by our rules of appellate procedure. The Fourth District should have dismissed the State's appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CONVICTING A DEFENDANT FOR SOLICITATION TO PURCHASE COCAINE WHEN THE CONVICTION WAS THE INTENDED RESULT OF A REVERSE STING OPERATION USING MANUFACTURED COCAINE VIOLATES DUE PROCESS OF LAW GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, § 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Hunter's solicitation to purchase cocaine charge without the benefit of this Court's decision in State v. Williams, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S371 (Fla. July 1, 1993). In Williams this Court held that the police manufacture of crack cocaine was an outrageous act of misconduct. Id. at S373. Furthermore, this Court found that such misconduct could not be deterred by prosecuting the police for manufacturing the drug since there was no evidence whatsoever that the police had been or would be prosecuted. "Thus, the only appropriate remedy to deter this outrageous law enforcement conduct is to bar the defendant's prosecution." Id. at S373.

Both the letter and spirit of <u>Williams</u> require this Court to reverse the decision under review. The State, having illegally manufactured an extremely dangerous controlled substance, and having arrested Ms. Hunter by their use of this crack, now seeks "to invoke the judicial process to obtain a conviction." <u>Id</u>. at S372. As in <u>Williams</u>, the State used the crack in a reverse sting. As in <u>Williams</u>, the State risked distributing this extremely addictive and fatal drug to the community. As in <u>Williams</u>, the criminal act of the defendant was discovered as the intended result

of the act which constituted the misconduct. As in Williams, that act by the police was outrageous and must be stopped.

The Fourth District reversed the trial court's order on the authority of Metcalf v. State, 614 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev. pending, Case No. 81,612. In Metcalf, the Fourth District held a conviction for solicitation to deliver cocaine could stand although the crack used in that case was manufactured. The Fourth District noted the crime of solicitation is complete upon the solicitation, and that no delivery need be made. Solicitation convictions have been upheld when there was no drug at all to be delivered or the drug in question was not real. The Fourth District reasoned, therefore, that "the limited relationship between the drugs in the deputy's possession and the elements of this offense is not sufficient to violate Appellant's due process rights." 614 So.2d at 550. The Fourth District analogized this situation to that in State v. Hunter, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991) in which this Court held that when an entrapped middleman induced a third person to become involved in a crime, due process did not prevent that third person from being convicted.

Williams, not <u>Hunter</u> controls here. In <u>Hunter</u>, this Court was not concerned primarily with the deterrence of police misconduct, but rather with the creation of crime by police action. This Court first held that there was not the danger of perjury in court by an informant which had caused the Court in <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985) to find a due process violation for informant fees contingent on convictions. <u>Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d at 321. This

Court then held that Hunter's codefendant, Conklin, had been entrapped because there was no ongoing crime when the informant solicited Conklin to traffic in cocaine. However, this Court held Hunter could be convicted because he was not entired into the deal by the informant but rather by Conklin. Thus, when Hunter entered the picture, there was an ongoing crime between him and Conklin; due process was not offended by his conviction.

In Ms. Hunter's case, entrapment is not even at issue. It is beyond dispute that the police directly sold Ms. Hunter a piece of illegally manufactured crack: that is the offense with which the State originally charged Ms. Hunter. Ms. Hunter's solicitation was to the officer with the crack; that particular solicitation would not have occurred but for the desire of the police to use that illegally manufactured crack to make a case against buyers in a reverse sting operation. Unlike <u>Hunter</u>, there was no intervening conduct by a non-state agent which removed the taint of the original due process violation. There was no intervening conduct at all to remove the taint of the misconduct: the government used the manufactured crack to entice Ms. Hunter to do a drug deal and then charged Ms. Hunter just as they intended to do.

The Fourth District's implicit holding that there was only a "limited relationship" between the police misconduct and Ms. Hunter's decision to solicit the purchase of crack is beside the point of Williams (and is factually incorrect as well). This Court in Williams desired to deter the police misconduct and to protect the integrity of the courts and the law from being infected by the

illegal acts by the government. Permitting the police to do what they did in <u>Williams</u> but simply charge the offense as a solicitation to purchase cocaine instead of purchase of cocaine does very little to deter the misconduct and nothing to protect the integrity of the courts and the law from being smeared by that illegality. Permitting the charge of solicitation to purchase cocaine to stand would make a mockery of <u>Williams</u>'s holding that the courts will not condone this police misconduct. The same dangers to the community are present regardless of the particulars of the charge: the crack will escape and the police will have violated the law which they purport to uphold. If this Court guts <u>Williams</u> by permitting these felony convictions, the public will see that the government can commit dangerous and illegal acts and that the courts will simply look the other way.

Finally, this Court held in <u>Williams</u> that due process is violated if the police "use" manufactured crack "in a reverse sting operation." 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S371. The police used manufactured crack in this reverse sting. Indeed, Ms. Hunter's case is even more outrageous than the typical reverse sting because the Sheriff's deputies actually allowed Ms. Hunter to <u>taste</u> the deadly drug which they had illegally manufactured (R 20,37). Thus, if there were ever a case where the institution of a lesser charge should be barred it is this one. The Fourth District's decision must be reversed and the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Hunter's charge affirmed.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING THE STATE'S APPEAL BECAUSE THE STATE DID NOT TIMELY APPEAL THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER ENTERED JUNE 4, 1992

On September 16, 1991, Ms. Hunter pled guilty to purchase of cocaine within a 1000 feet of a school in case number 91-5615 CF (R 38; SR 1). Ms. Hunter was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 4 1/2 years in state prison with a 3 year minimum mandatory (R 38).

On May 18, 1992, Ms. Hunter filed a motion with the trial court seeking relief under the Fourth District's decisions in Kelly v. State, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992), and Grissett v. State, 594 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), dismissed, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992) (SR 1-9).

On June 4, 1992, in open court, the trial court entered an order vacating Ms. Hunter's judgment and sentence and ordering that she be discharged (SR 10). The State failed to take an appeal from this order. Instead, on July 2, 1992, the state filed another information charging Ms. Hunter with solicitation to purchase cocaine¹ (R 6-7). On September 22, 1992, Ms. Hunter filed a motion to dismiss this information (R 11-13). On September 24, 1992, the trial court entered its written order granting the motion to dismiss (R 37-39). On October 9, 1992, the State filed its notice of appeal (R 40). As appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Ms. Hunter argued that the State's appeal was untimely. The Fourth District erroneously rejected her argument.

¹ The information indicates it was refiled from case no. 91-5615 CF (R 6).

After the trial court entered its June 4, 1992, order discharging Ms. Hunter, the State had 15 days to file its notice of appeal. Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(c)(2). The State failed to do so. Instead, the State made an end-run around the rules of appellate procedure by filing another information 28 days later and then appealing its dismissal. Thus, instead of 15 days to commence an appeal, the State's tactic allowed it 127 days. Allowing the State to appeal the second order gave the State more time to file an appeal than allowed by Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(c)(2). Accordingly, the State's appeal was untimely and should have been dismissed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. See State v. Jones, 613 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (State appeal dismissed where state did not timely appeal order dismissing charge; instead, State appealed order which denied rehearing of order dismissing charge); Hawthorne Industries, Inc. v. Transohio Savings, 573 So. 2d 211, 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (in granting appellee's motion to dismiss appeal where appellant did not timely appeal an order appointing a receiver but instead appealed order denying motion to vacate the order appointing receiver, Fourth District stated: "...to allow appellant to appeal the order denying its motion to vacate gives appellant more time to file an appeal of the order appointing the receiver than allowed by our appellate rules.")

If this Court holds that the State can appeal the second order dismissing Ms. Hunter's charge then the 15 day time limit in Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(c)(2) will be rendered meaningless. In the future, if the State neglects to timely appeal a trial court's

order dismissing a charge, the State need not worry: all the State need do is file a new information with the same or similar charge and then appeal the order dismissing that information (as the State did here).

The Fourth District's decision must be reversed and the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Hunter's charge affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Hunter respectfully requests this Court to vacate the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and affirm the trial court's order dismissing Ms. Hunter's solicitation to purchase cocaine charge.