IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASES No. 82,458

ANNETTE HUNTER,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Bureau Chief West Palm Beach, Florida

MICHELLE A. KONIG Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 946966 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Third Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
POINT I
IT IS NOT A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION TO CONVICT A DEFENDANT FOR SOLICITATION TO PURCHASE COCAINE WHERE THE COCAINE WAS MANUFACTURED BY THE GOVERNMENT. (Restated)4
POINT II
THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE STATE'S APPEAL, BECAUSE THE STATE'S APPEAL WAS TIMELY. (Restated)8
CONCLUSION10
רקטייו פור איים איים איים איים איים איים איים איי

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASE
Wanthorno Industries Inc. w Transchio Savings
573 So. 2d 211 (Fla 4th DCA 1991)8
Kelly v. State,
593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992)8
rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992)
Louissaint v. State,
576 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)4
Luzarraga v. State,
575 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991)6
State v. Burch,
646 Co 24 270 /Elo 4+b DCX 1000)
approved, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990)4
State v. Hunter,
586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991)5
State v. Johnson,
561 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)
State v. Jones,
613 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)8
State v. Milbro,
586 So. 2d 1303 2nd DCA 1991)4
State v. Williams, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S371 (Fla. July 1, 1993)4
18 Fla. L. Weekly S371 (Fla. July 1, 1993)4
FLORIDA STATUTES:
Section 893.13(1)(3)1, Florida Statutes (1990)7,9

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, ANNETTE HUNTER, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellee in the district court of appeal. She will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State."

The symbol "A" will be used to refer to Respondent's Appendix, which is a conformed copy of the District Court's opinion, attached hereto.

All emphasis has been added by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State of Florida accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts for purposes of this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Although this Court has ruled that police manufacture of cocaine violates due process, the fact that police manufactured cocaine was present in this case does not bar Petitioner's prosecution for solicitation to purchase, as cocaine is not an element of that offense, thus any due process violation does not taint Petitioner's conviction.

POINT II

This Court need not consider Petitioner's claim that the State's appeal was untimely, because this issue was not discussed in the district court's opinion, and consideration of this issue is not necessary for resolution of the certified question.

Petitioner's argument also fails on the merits. The State timely filed its notice of appeal fifteen days after the court's order dismissing the information. The fact that the State did not appeal the court's order dismissing the separate information, charging Appellant with the actual purchase of cocaine, is irrelevant.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT IS NOT A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION TO CONVICT A DEFENDANT FOR SOLICITATION TO PURCHASE COCAINE WHERE THE COCAINE WAS MANUFACTURED BY THE GOVERNMENT. (Restated).

The question presented in the instant case is whether, in light of this Court's decision in State v. Williams, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S371 (Fla. July 1, 1993), condemning the manufacture of crack cocaine by law enforcement as violative of due process, a defendant should be discharged from prosecution for solicitation to purchase illegally manufactured crack cocaine in that the cocaine was neither the instrumentality nor an element of the crime charged. The Fourth District Court of Appeal properly determined that Petitioner should not be discharged from prosecution for this charge.

There is no question that this Court has approved the use of reverse sting operations in which undercover officers offer to sell illegal drugs. Williams at S372; State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), approved, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990). It is equally clear that the crime of solicitation is completed when a defendant entices or encourages another to commit a crime, the crime itself need not be completed. State v. Johnson, 561 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), State v. Milbro, 586 So. 2d 1303 2nd DCA 1991); See also: Louissaint v. State, 576 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (the crime of "attempt" does not require proof that the substance involved was actually cocaine). As pointed out by the Fourth District Court in Johnson, "The crimes of solicitation

focuses on the culpability of the solicitor. It is irrelevant that the other cannot or will not be follow through." Id. at 1322. Similarly, in Milbro, the Second District held that "...the crime solicited need not be committed." Id. at 1304. Clearly, the crime of solicitation with which Petitioner was charged was committed when Petitioner approached the undercover officer and requested to purchase cocaine. The fact that the cocaine in the officer's possession was manufactured by the police is irrelevant, just as it would be irrelevant that the officer did not have cocaine at all or had a counterfeit substance.

Petitioner contends that the Fourth District's reliance on this Court's decision in State v. Hunter, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991), in Metcalf v. State , is misplaced, arguing that here, unlike there, there was no intervening conduct by a non-state agent which removed the taint of the due process violation. The State submits Petitioner has misinterpreted this Court's decision In Hunter, an informant used what this Court found to be outrageous misconduct to entrap one Conklin. Conklin then persuaded Hunter to participate in the crime. This Court held that although Hunter's motive may have been benevolent, his conduct was wholly voluntary, regardless of the fact that Conklin's conduct was motivated by police misconduct. Hunter, this Court made it clear that while a defendant whose due process rights have been violated by police misconduct is

Petitioner's convictions was per curiam affirmed on authority of Metcalf v. State, 614 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

entitled to discharge, the fact that police misconduct has occurred does not in and of itself require discharge of a defendant whose due process rights have not been violated. There, as here, a due process violation occurred; however, there, this Court rejected the notion that such violation tainted every prosecution which flowed from it. Instead, this Court found a logical cutoff; the point at which the due process violation no longer affected the prosecution. In <u>Hunter</u>, the point came when the improper police conduct had minimal conduct with the defendant; Respondent submits that here, the point came when the illegally manufactured crack became irrelevant to prosecution of the crime charged. See also: <u>Luzarraga v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), (the intent or motives of the person solicited are irrelevant to solicitation charge).

Petitioner's argument that her solicitation would not have occurred if the police had not manufactured the crack cocaine In fact, if the police below had not misses the point. manufactured the crack, they could still have set up the same reverse sting, in the same location, using any substance resembling crack cocaine or even no substance at all. The result for Petitioner would have been the same because the offense charged was solicitation, not purchase even attempted orpurchase -- and the crime of solicitation was completed at the instant Petitioner offered to buy cocaine from the officer and well before Petitioner tasted the crack.

Finally, Petitioner's arguments that the use of another, substantially similar, charge to avoid the limitations of

<u>Williams</u>, would defeat justice and that this Court's affirmance of the Fourth District's decision in <u>Metcalf</u> would somehow allow manufactured crack to escape into the community are likewise without merit.

Solicitation to deliver cocaine is in no way substantially similar to the crime of actual delivery. The former is a third degree felony which carries no mandatory minimum prison term; the latter is a first degree felony which carries a three year mandatory minimum sentence with no possibility of probation. Section 893.13(1)(3)1, Florida Statutes (1990). Further, the risk of cocaine escaping into the community is no greater when the police use cocaine they have manufactured that when they use cocaine they have previously seized. Additionally because the crime of solicitation to deliver cocaine does not require the use of actual cocaine, there is little chance of the drug escaping into the community. Clearly Petitioner's policy arguments do not survive careful scrutiny.

Respondent respectfully submits that the trial court did not err in denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss, and that the Fourth District correctly held that the fact that the cocaine was manufactured was irrelevant to the solicitation charge. This Court accomplished what it set out to do in <u>Williams</u>; the conduct condemned by this Court has ceased. There is no reason to extend Williams. The decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE STATE'S APPEAL, BECAUSE THE STATE'S APPEAL WAS TIMELY. (Restated)

This Court need not consider Petitioner's claim that the State's appeal from the trial court's order dismissing the information was untimely, because this issue was not discussed in the district court's opinion, and consideration of this issue is not necessary for resolution of the certified question.

Petitioner's argument that the State's appeal was untimely also fails on the merits. The State filed its notice of appeal in the instant case On October 9, 1992, fifteen days after the court's order dismissing the information (R 37-40). The fact that the State did not appeal the order vacating Petitioner's sentence in case number 91-5615 CF, where Petitioner had been charged with purchase of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school, is irrelevant to the issue of whether the State's appeal in the instant case was timely.

The State did not appeal the trial court's order in case number 91-5615 CF because the Fourth District Court of Appeals had already decided Kelly v. State, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1992). Kelly was decided against the State's position. Therefore, based on Kelly, it would have been fruitless for the State to appeal that case raising the issue decided in Kelly.

Hawthorne Industries, Inc. v. Transohio Savings, 573 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), and State v. Jones, 613 So. 2d 577 (Fla.

1st DCA 1993), which Petitioner relies on, are inapposite. Unlike <u>Hawthorne</u> and <u>Jones</u>, the present case involves completely separate cases. Herein, the State filed two totally separate informations - one information charging purchase of cocaine and later, a second information charging solicitation of cocaine. The filing of the new information did not give the State more time to file an appeal of the purchase charge as Appellee alleges, because the State never appealed the dismissal of that charge.

Finally, the instant case and case number 91-5615 CF do not involve "the same or similar charge" as argued by Petitioner. Brief of Petitioner at 13. Solicitation to deliver cocaine is in no way substantially similar to the crime of actual delivery. The former is a third degree felony which carries no mandatory minimum prison term; the latter is a first degree felony which carries a three year mandatory minimum sentence with no possibility of probation. Section 893.13(1)(3)1, Florida Statutes (1990).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority it is respectfully requested that this Honorable Court AFFIRM the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.